IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2005-CA-01239

MISSISSIPPI CARE CENTER OF GREENVILLE, LLC OXFORD MANAGEMENT COMPANY, INC., MICHAEL OVERSTREET and TESSA COOPER

APPELLANTS

V.

NANCY HINYUB, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of DON WYSE

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

S. Mark Wann, Esquire (MSB # Marjorie S. Busching Esquire(MSB # Heather M. Aby, Esquire (MSB # MAXEY WANN PLLC 210 East Capitol Street, Suite 2125 Post Office Box 3977 Jackson, Mississippi 39207-3977 Telephone: (601) 355-8855 Facsimile: (601) 355-8881

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2005-CA-01239

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the lower court erred in failing to enforce an arbitration provision contained within a nursing home admission agreement entered into between the resident's daughter, operating under a power of attorney and as her father's responsible party, and the nursing home.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Don Wyse (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Wyse") was initially admitted to Mississippi Care Center of Greenville, LLC (hereinafter referred to as "Mississippi Care Center" or "the Facility") for the first time on January 28, 1997. Six months prior to, he executed a power of attorney in favor of his Daughter, Nancy Hinyub (hereinafter referred to as "Ms. Hinyub"). On or about February 13, 2004, following a lengthy hospital stay, Mr. Wyse was again admitted to Mississippi Care Center. Ms. Hinyub, on her Father's behalf, possessing a durable power of attorney for healthcare, executed an Admission Agreement containing an arbitration provision. This provision - - the subject of this appeal - - provided in part, any "... controversy, dispute or disagreement arising out of or relating to this agreement... shall be settled exclusively by binding arbitration...." (1 R. 133-140).¹ Mr. Wyse passed away the following day. (1 R. 243).

Thereafter, Ms. Hinyub, on behalf of herself and others, filed suit alleging medical negligence. (1 R. 3-74). Ms. Hinyub subsequently amended her Complaint, adding treating physicians Nino Bologna, M.D., and Philip Doolittle, M.D. Both

¹Citations to the record will be denoted as _____ R.___ and citations to the transcript will be Tr.____.

physicians have since been dismissed by this Court due to Ms. Hinyub's failure to provide notice pursuant Mississippi Code Annotated §15-1-36(15).

Rather than submit to binding arbitration, Ms Hinyub asserted neither Mr. Wyse nor herself were bound to the terms and conditions of the Admission Agreement because he did not sign the contract. This argument is without merit. In executing the contract, Ms. Hinyub acted as her Father's attorney-in-fact, based upon the previously executed conferral of such authority. (1 R. 113). Following briefing and argument on the issue, the lower court entered a fifty-six (56) paragraph order finding, as a matter of fact, the arbitration provision was unconscionable; the admission agreement was illegal or improper, in violation of both state and federal law, and; the Defendants were in violation of Mississippi's Vulnerable Adults Act.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Wyse was admitted to Mississippi Care Center on January 28, 1997, remaining a resident up until his discharge and death on February 14, 2004. Mr. Wyse became ill in January 2004 and was admitted to an acute care hospital on January 31, 2004. On or about February 13, 2004, he was discharged from the hospital and readmitted to Mississippi Care Center by his Daughter, Ms. Hinyub.² Ms. Hinyub executed all admission papers on this date. Her actions were consistent with the 1996 durable power of attorney for healthcare establishing his Daughter, Ms. Hinyub as his agent/attorney-in-fact.³

Following her Father's death and in complete disregard for the agreement to

(Tr. 58-59).

²At the time of his first admission, both Mr. Wyse and his Daughter executed various documents related to admission.

³Said power of attorney was submitted to the Court as part of the April 26, 2005 hearing. However, it does not appear in the record. The document was discussed at the hearing:

BY MS. BUSCHING: One thing that was not brought out, and may I approach, Your Honor? BY THE COURT: Yes. BY MS. BUSCHING: In order to clear up whether or not she can bind – BY MR. TURNER: What are you looking at? BY MS. BUSCHING: The power of attorney. Do you have a copy? BY MR. TURNER: I haven't seen it. BY MS. BUSCHING: Ms. Hinyub executed a power of attorney for healthcare the year before her dad went into the facility, and I know I've got another one. MR. TURNER: That's okay. You can give him this one. I've read it.

arbitrate, Ms. Hinyub filed suit on or about August 24, 2004 in the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi. (1 R. 1-74). In an effort to avoid the arbitrable forum, she argued the arbitration provision was unconscionable and the entire Admission Agreement was void and/or illegal. The lower court found her arguments persuasive. This appeal ensued.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review.

"The decision to grant or deny a motion to compel arbitration is reviewed by this Court *de novo*." *Equifirst Corp. v. Jackson*, 920 So. 2d 458, 461 (Miss. 2006). "This Court has consistently recognized the existence of a 'liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements." *Terminix International, Inc. v. Rice*, 904 So. 2d 1051, 1054-55 (Miss. 2004) (quoting *Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc.*, 826 So. 2d 719, 722 (Miss. 2002)).

II. Nancy Hinyub (Wyse) had authority to bind her Father in health care matters, including the agreement to arbitrate.

A. The June 1, 1996 power of attorney executed by Don Wyse provided his daughter full authority to act on his behalf with regard to health care decisions.

The lower court erred in finding neither the durable power of attorney for healthcare nor Mississippi's Healthcare Surrogate Statute bound Ms. Hinyub to

4

arbitrate. (2 R. 261-62). "Generally speaking, our law regards as valid and enforceable as a power of attorney any written instrument signed by the principal and 'expressing plainly the authority conferred.'" Kountouris v. Varvaris, 476 So. 2d 599 (Miss. 1985) (quoting Mississippi Code Annotated, § 87-3-7)). "A designated power of attorney is nothing more than one form of a principal-agency relationship." Clark v. Ritchev, 759 So. 2d 516, 518 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing McKinnev v. King, 498 So. 2d 387, 388-89 (Miss. 1986)). Nancy Hinyub, acting under the guise of the durable power of attorney for health care, possessed the authority to make healthcare decisions for her Father, which necessarily entailed entering into contracts for said healthcare services from the provider. There is no evidence Mr. Wyse ever revoked this authority. On February 13, 2004, Mr. Wyse was critically ill. As a result thereof, Ms. Hinyub acting in accord with the power of attorney, executed the Admission Agreement on his behalf. (1 R. 133-149).

Although no case law is on point in Mississippi, courts in other jurisdictions have upheld arbitration provisions contained within admission agreements executed by a family member, acting as a resident's attorney-in-fact. In *Hogan v. Country Villa Health Services*, a California appellate court found a resident's designation of her daughter in a durable power of attorney for healthcare authorized the daughter to enter into a binding arbitration agreement with a nursing home. 148 Cal. App. 4th 259

(2007). The Hogan court held the lower court erred in denying the facility's motion

to compel arbitration:

The decedent had signed a Probate Code section 4701 health care power of attorney that authorized her daughter to make health care decisions for her, including the selection of health care providers. This authorization impliedly included the power to execute contracts of admission when having the decedent admitted to a longterm health care facility. Inasmuch as the decedent had not elected to restrict the powers of the daughter as her agent so as to exclude the power to enter into arbitration agreements, the daughter had the power to executed arbitration agreements when presented to her by the longterm health care facility as part of the package of admissions documents.

Id. at 262.

Likewise, in Owens v. National Health Corp., the Tennessee court of appeals

reviewed a trial court's denial of arbitration:

The circuit court found that a patient's attorney-in-fact for health care decisions could not validly execute a nursing home admission contract containing an agreement to arbitrate on behalf of the patient. On appeal, the appellants contend that the attorney-in-fact could validly execute the language of the durable power of attorney. The patient's conservator argues that signing a waiver of a jury trial is beyond the scope of the attorney-in-fact's authority.

2006 WL 1865009 (Ten. Ct. App. November 20, 2006) (unreported).

The *Owens* Court found, ". . . an attorney-in-fact's authority to execute any necessary waiver, release, or other document for implementing health care decisions includes executing an admission contract which includes an agreement to arbitrate."

Id. at *5. The court went further to explain its logical conclusion:

Necessarily, when attempting to receive health care, an individual must arrange for what services he or she will receive from the health care provider and how he or she will pay for those services. Further, it is not uncommon for those same parties to agree as to which forum they will use to resolve their disputes. Thus, Daniel had the authority to enter into an admission contract that included an agreement to arbitrate. Accordingly, we conclude that the circuit court erred when it found there was no agreement to arbitrate because Daniel lacked the authority to enter into an admission contract that included an arbitration agreement on behalf of King.

Id. at *4.

In the instant matter, Appellants urge the Court, in reliance upon the above-

case law, to reverse the lower court's finding that Ms. Hinyub did not possess

authority to agree to arbitrate any and all disputes with Mississippi Care Center.

B. Alternatively, Nancy Hinyub acted as Don Wyse's health care surrogate on February 14, 2004.

Should the Court determine Ms. Hinyub's authority, by virtue of the durable

power of attorney for healthcare, to not include the ability to agree to an alternate

forum for resolution of disputes, authority can be found in Mississippi's Health Care

Surrogate Statute.⁴ The statute provides, in pertinent part:

(1) A surrogate may make a health-care decision for a patient who is an adult or emancipated minor if the patient has been determined by the primary physician to lack capacity and no agent or guardian has been appointed or the agent or guardian is not reasonably available.

(2) An adult or emancipated minor may designate any individual to act as surrogate by personally informing the supervising health care provider. In the absence of a designation, or if the designee is not reasonably available, any member of the following classes of the patient's family who is reasonably available, in descending order of priority, may act as surrogate:

(a) The spouse, unless legally separated; (b) an adult child; (c) A parent, or (d) An adult brother or sister.

(7) A health-care decision made by a surrogate for a patient is effective without judicial approval.

Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-211.

In Covenant Health Rehab of Picayune v. Brown, this Court held, pursuant to

Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-211, Sharon Goss had authority to bind her mother, Bernice

⁴Contracts concerning the provision of health care are an integral part of the health care industry and the practice of medicine. In order to make decisions about the medical care a patient is to receive, a surrogate must be able to enter into binding agreements to bring those decisions to fruition. In *Consolidated Resources Health Care Fund I, Ltd. v. Fenelus*, a Florida Appellate Court held the resident's son as the resident's health care surrogate, "could execute the admission agreement, enforcing the arbitration provision contained therein. 853 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

Brown to contract. 949 So. 2d 732 (Miss. 2007). Likewise, by executing the Admission Agreement at issue, Ms. Hinyub gave effect to a health care decision.⁵ Implicit in the Legislature's grant of authority to make decisions about a patient's care is a corresponding ability to enter into a contract concerning surrogate's said care. *See Allred v. Webb*, 641 So. 2d 1218, 1222 (Miss. 1995) (A law which imposes a duty implies necessary power to achieve those duties.).

Based upon the clear language of the Statute, as well as the Court's recent ruling in *Brown*, it is clear Ms. Hinyub acted as her Father's health care surrogate on February 14, 2004. She stepped into the role of her Father's surrogate and contractually bound him in matters of health care, including the agreement to arbitrate "any and all claims, disputes and/or controversies between them and the Facility... ." (1 R. 133-140). But for the Admission Agreement, Ms. Hinyub would have no cause of action against Mississippi Care Center. Thus, the lower court's ruling is erroneous.

⁵Federal statutes conveyed similar authority to Nancy Hinyub. Pursuant to 42 C.F.R. 483.10(a)(4), "in the case of a resident who has not been adjudged incompetent by the State Court, any legal surrogate designated in accordance with State law may exercise the residents' rights. . . ." Accordingly, since Ms. Hinyub would qualify as Don Wyse's health care surrogate, as set forth by Mississippi law, she had authority to select a long-term care facility for her Father to return to following his lengthy hospitalization. The selection of Mississippi Care Center necessitated execution of an Admission Agreement, which is this instance, contained a valid and enforceable arbitration provision. Ms. Hinyub's authority was in line with both state and federal statutes and not violative of her Father's rights as a resident.

III. Pursuant to Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens and Covenant Health Rehab of Picayune, L.P. v. Brown, the lower court erred in denying arbitration.

Following a finding Nancy Hinyub did in fact possess authority to execute the

Admission Agreement, the remaining inquiry requires an analysis of conscionability.⁶

"[T]he doctrine of 'unconcionability has been defined as an absence of meaningful

choice on the part of one of the parties, together with contract terms which are

unreasonably favorable to the other party." Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens, 911

So. 2d 507, 516-17 (Miss. 2005).

Procedural unconcionability is applicable to the overall formation of the contract in which the subject clause (such as the arbitration clause) is contained, whereas *substantive* unconcionability is applicable only to the subject clause (such as the arbitration clause) itself. Thus, while procedural unconcionability must be discussed as to the formation of the overall contract, it must also be discussed as to the arbitration contract itself, since the arbitration clause is contained within the overall contract. On the other hand, when discussing and applying substantive unconsionability, we are looking only to a particular clause

⁶The lower court found provisions of the Admission Agreement to be illegal, improper or in violation of state and federal regulations; thus, voiding the contract as a whole. Such a determination is for an arbitrator, and not probative in determining whether the arbitration provision is conscionable. As such, and in accord with *Holman Dealerships, Inc. v. Davis*, the Court should overrule the lower court's denial of arbitration, sending the matter to arbitration for a determination of the underlying dispute. 934 So. 2d 356, 358-59 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); *see also Primerica Life Ins. Co. v. Brown*, 304 F.3d 469, 471 (5th Cir. 2002) ("court's inquiry on a motion to compel arbitration is limited").

within the contract, such as an arbitration clause. We are not looking at the overall contract.

Id. (Emphasis in original).

"In *Vicksburg Partners*, this [C]ourt considered an assertion of procedural unconcionability where the daughter, serving as the responsible party, admitted her father to a nursing home." *Brown*, 949 So. 2d at 737 (citing *Stephens*, 911 So. 2d at 510, 516-20 (Miss. 2005)). A court must take into account two considerations when determining whether a contract is procedurally unconscionable: "(1) lack of voluntariness and (2) lack of knowledge." *Id.* (citing *Stephens*, 911 So. 2d at 517-18 (citing *Entergy Miss., Inc.*, 726 So. 2d. at 1207)).

In *Brown*, the Court found contracts of adhesion not automatically void, but "the party seeking to avoid the contract generally must show that it is unconscionable." *Id.* (quoting *Stephens*, 911 So. 2d at 513). In both *Stephens* and *Brown*, the format of the arbitration provision was found to be procedurally conscionable:

[T]here were no circumstances of exigency; the arbitration agreement appeared on the last page of a six-page agreement and was easily identifiable as it followed a clearly marked heading printed in all caps and bold-faced type clearly indicated that section "F" was about "Arbitration," the provision itself was printed in bold-faced type of equal size or greater then the print contained in the rest of the document; and, appearing between the arbitration clause and the signature lines was an all caps bold-faced consent paragraph drawing special attention to the parties' voluntary consent to the arbitration provision contained in the admission agreement. Under these facts, it can not be said that there was either a lack of knowledge that the arbitration provision was an important part of the contract or a lack of voluntariness in that [the resident and his responsible party] somehow had no choice but to sign.

Id. Likewise, in the instant matter, the arbitration provision contained font of equal size; the provision was highlighted by all caps, bold faced type and a line to initial; the language was simple and non-legalistic and an acknowledgment paragraph was set forth above Ms. Hinyub's signature. Accordingly, the lower court erred in finding the agreement procedurally unconscionable.⁷

In order to determine whether a contract is substantially unconscionable, this Court looks to ". . . the four corners of an agreement." *Brown*, 949 So.2d at 733. "Substantive unconcionability is present when there is a one-sided agreement whereby one party is deprived of all the benefits of the agreement or left without a remedy for another party's nonperformance or breach." *Stephens*, 911 So. 2d at 521

⁷Additionally, any argument regarding unenforceability due to a lack of an arbitrable forum is also moot. Defendants presented an affidavit to the lower court from Peter Leibold, Vice President of the American Health Lawyers Association. Said affidavit clearly negated argument that the AHLA refuses to arbitrate matters without a post-contractual agreement. The AHLA will arbitrate any matter a court of competent jurisdiction orders it to arbitrate. Additionally, the arbitration agreement states only that the Rules of Procedure will be utilized, not the service. If the parties agree, however, the agreement places no restrictions on utilizing procedural rules of any association or organization, including Mississippi State or Federal rules.

(citing *Bank of Indiana v. Holyfield*, 476 F. Supp. 104-110 (S.D. Miss. 1979.) In *Stephens*, this Court found "arbitration agreements merely submit the question of liability to another forum – generally speaking, they do not waive liability." *Id.* at 522.

In the case-at-bar, the contract is facially valid, containing none of the limiting language stricken in *Stephens* and *Brown*. This agreement does not limit recovery in any way and further set forth *both* a right to legal advice and a right to rescind:

The Resident and/or Responsible Party understand that (1) he/she has the right to seek legal counsel concerning this agreement, (2) the execution of this arbitration is not a precondition of the furnishing of services to the Resident by Facility, and (3) this Arbitration Agreement may be rescinded by written notice to the Facility from the Resident within 30 days of signature. If not rescinded within 30 days, this Arbitration Agreement shall remain in effect for all care and services subsequently rendered at the Facility, even if such care and services are rendered following the Resident's discharge and readmission to the Facility.

2 R. 183.

In addition to the conscionability arguments, the lower court erred in refusing

to enforce arbitration due waiver of a jury trial. The waiver provision was in bold

font, clearly setting forth "the parties" limitation as to a jury trial:

The parties understand and agree that by entering this arbitration agreement, they are giving up and waiving

their constitutional right to have any claim decided in a court of law before a judge and jury.

(2 R. 182). (Emphasis in original).

In Brown, this Court addressed the argument head-on:

The provision has the same effect as signing an arbitration agreement. It is well established that this Court respects the ability of parties to agree to the means of a dispute resolution prior to a dispute and enforces the plain meaning of a contract as it represents the intent of the parties.

Brown, 949 So. 2d at 740. (citing Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So. 2d

719, 922 (Miss. 2002); I.P. Timberlands Operating Co. v. Denmiss Corp., 726 So. 2d

96, 108 (Miss. 1998)). (Emphasis supplied). The rationale is the same in the instant

matter, waiving the right of a jury trial to both Mississippi Care Center and Don

Wyse.

The contract provided clearly set forth the terms of the agreement, including:

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