IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2005-CA-01239

MISSISSIPPI CARE CENTER OF GREENVILLE, LLC; OXFORD MANAGEMENT COMPANY, INC; MICHAEL OVERSTREET and TESSA COOPER

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

NANCY HINYUB, Individually and as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF DON WYSE, and for the use and benefit of the Estate and the wrongful death beneficiaries of Don Wyse

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEEOral Argument Requested

F. M. Turner, III (MB# F. M. Turner, III, PLLC P.O. Box 15128 Hattiesburg, MS 39404-5128

Tel: (601) 264-7775 Fax: (601) 264-7776

Attorney for Appellee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2005-CA-01239

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

In their Motion to Stay Proceedings and Compel Arbitration Agreement, Defendants sought to enforce the terms of the arbitration clause found in the February 13, 2004 Admission Agreement as covering Don Wyse's entire seven-year residency at Mississippi Care Center of

Greenville, even though the Admission Agreement was signed less than eighteen hours prior to Mr. Wyse's death. The Admission Agreement provides on page 5 that:

[A]ny legal dispute, controversy, demand or claim... that arises out of or relates to the Admission Agreement or any service or health care provided by the Facility to the Resident, shall be resolved exclusively by binding arbitration... to be conducted... in accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration which are hereby incorporated into this agreement. (R. 137, ¶ E)(emphasis added)

The February 13, 2004 Admission Agreement provides that it applies to the February 13, 2004 admission of Don Wyse to Mississippi Care Center of Greenville. (R.133) All of the terms of the Agreement address covenants of performance beginning with the admission date. Nowhere in the Admission Agreement is there any provision that the Agreement shall cover any prior services rendered by the Facility. In paragraph F.4, the Agreement provides that:

This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement among the Parties pertaining to the subject matter contained in it and supersedes all prior agreements, representations and all understandings of the parties." (R.139)

Even that provision does not seek to bring any prior nursing home admissions under the terms of this Agreement.

As the Circuit Court found, "Plaintiff's claims against Defendants do not encompass any period covered by this Admissions Agreement. Instead, Plaintiff's claims cover injuries occurring to Mr. Wyse prior to his discharge on January 31, 2004. Accordingly, Plaintiff's claims are not related to the Admission Agreement." (R. 258, ¶ 10)

It is clear beyond dispute that "arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." A.T.&T. Technologies, Inc. v. Communications Workers of America, 475 U.S. 643, 648; 106 S. Ct. 1415, 1418 (1986). "[B]ecause arbitration is a matter of contract, where a party contends that it has not signed any agreement to arbitrate, the court must determine if there is an agreement to arbitrate

before any additional dispute can be sent to arbitration." Will-Drill Resources, Inc. v. Samson Resources Co., 352 F.3d 211, 218 (5th Cir. 2003); see, also, Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc. v. Gaskamp, 230 F.3d 1069 (5th Cir. 2002); First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938, 115 S. Ct. 1920 (1995). "Where the very existence of any agreement is disputed, it is for the courts to decide at the outset whether an agreement was reached, applying state-law principles of contract.... We reject the argument that where there is a signed document containing an arbitration clause which the parties do not dispute they signed, we must presume that there is a valid contract and send any general attacks on the agreement to the arbitrator." 352 F.3d at 218.

In deciding whether to grant a motion to compel arbitration, the threshold issue for the court is whether the parties have entered into a written agreement to arbitrate. Indeed, a party moving to compel arbitration must prove (1) the existence of a valid agreement to arbitrate and (2) a dispute that falls within the scope of the agreement. *East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor*, 826 So. 2d 709, 713 (¶9) (Miss. 2002); *Will-Drill Res., Inc. v. Samson Res. Co.*, 352 F.3d at 214 (5th Cir. 2003). The Defendants' motion fails on this second point.

In Volt Info. Sciences, Inc. v. Bd. of Trustees of Leland Stanford Junior Univ., 489 U.S. 468, 474-75, 109 S.Ct. 1248, 103 L.Ed.2d 488 (1989), the U.S. Supreme Court stated that "the FAA does not confer a right to compel arbitration of any dispute at any time"; it confers only the right to obtain an order directing that "arbitration proceed in the manner provided for in [the parties'] agreement." See, also, 9 U.S.C. § 4 (directing that the trial court is to order arbitration "upon being satisfied that the making of the agreement for arbitration or the failure to comply therewith is not in issue").

The Circuit Court correctly held that:

Because the Admission Agreement does not apply retroactively to prior admissions, the Court cannot enforce the arbitration provision against Plaintiff's claims without materially altering the terms of the Agreement. Accordingly, the

contract, by its terms, does not apply to the instant proceedings and Defendants' Motion to Compel should be denied. (R.259, ¶ 12)

II. NANCY HINYUB LACKED AUTHORITY TO BIND HER FATHER OR HIS ESTATE TO ARBITRATION

Defendants argue that Nancy Hinyub had the authority to bind her father in health care matters, either pursuant to a durable power of attorney for health care or as a health care surrogate under the Uniform Health-Care Decisions Act, Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-201 et seq., and that this authority extended to the execution of the arbitration provision of the Admission Agreement. Neither of these powers would grant her the authority to bind her father to arbitrate claims that had already accrued.

Defendants cite to a durable power of attorney for health care (which is not included in the record on appeal but is filed as a supplement hereto) executed in favor of Nancy Wyse (now Nancy Hinyub) by Don Wyse on or about June 1, 1996. The power of attorney conforms to the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-205 and appears to be on the form then published by the Mississippi State Department of Health. It states:

I, DON G. WYSE hereby appoint: NANCY WISE ... my Attorney-in-Fact to make health care decisions for me if I become unable to make my own health care decisions. (emphasis added)

According to the Uniform Health-Care Decisions Act:

"Health care" means any care, treatment, service, or procedure to maintain, diagnose, or otherwise affect an individual's physical or mental condition.

"Health-care decision" means a decision made by an individual or the individual's agent, guardian, or surrogate, regarding the individual's health care, including:

- (i) Selection and discharge of health-care providers and institutions;
- (ii) Approval or disapproval of diagnostic tests, surgical procedures, programs of medication, and orders not to resuscitate; and
- (iii) Directions to provide, withhold or withdraw artificial nutrition and hydration and all other forms of health care

Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-203(g)-(h) (emphasis added).

Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-205(2),

An adult or emancipated minor may execute a power of attorney for health care, which may authorize the agent to make any health-care decision the principal could have made while having capacity. The power remains in effect notwithstanding the principal's later incapacity and may include individual instructions.

Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-205 goes on to provide that:

(5) Unless otherwise specified in a power of attorney for health care, the authority of an agent becomes effective only upon a determination that the principal lacks capacity, and ceases to be effective upon a determination that the principal has recovered capacity. (emphasis added)

The power of attorney for health care executed by Don Wyse did not contain any exception to the general rule and thus was only effective if and while Mr. Wyse lacked capacity to make his own health care decisions. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-205(6):

Unless otherwise specified in a written advance health-care directive, a determination that an individual lacks or has recovered capacity, or that another condition exists that affects an individual instruction or the authority of an agent, must be made by the primary physician.

Alternatively, Defendants argue that Nancy Hinyub had authority to execute the Admission Agreement as her fathers "health-care surrogate." The health-care surrogate statute, Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-211(1) provides:

A surrogate may make a health-care decision for a patient who is an adult or emancipated minor if the patient has been determined by the primary physician to lack capacity and no agent or guardian has been appointed or the agent or guardian is not reasonably available. (emphasis added)

Here Defendants claim that Don Wyse had appointed Nancy Hinyub as his agent to make health care decisions. Therefore, the surrogacy statute would never come into play as to her.

"Capacity" is a defined term in the Uniform Health-Care Decisions Act meaning "an individual's ability to understand the significant benefits, risks, and alternatives to proposed health care and to make and communicate a health-care decision." Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-203(d).

It is undisputed that Don Wyse did not sign the February 13, 2004 Admission Agreement; it was signed solely by Nancy Hinyub. (R.140) Unless Don Wyse lacked capacity to make or communicate a health-care decision on February 13, 2004, when the Admission Agreement was executed, Nancy Hinyub had no power to act on his behalf either as his attorney-in-fact or health-care surrogate. Under both sections 41-41-205(6) and 41-41-211(1), the question of capacity is an issue of fact to be determined by the patient's treating physician. Defendants presented *no evidence* to the Circuit Court to establish that Mr. Wyse lacked capacity at the time Nancy Hinyub executed the Admission Agreement.

Contrary to the Defendants' arguments that *Vicksburg Partners*, *L.P.* v. *Stephens*, 911 So. 2d 507 (Miss. 2005), and *Covenant Health and Rehab*, *L.P.* v. *Brown*, 949 So. 2d 732 (Miss. 2007), compel the enforcement of the arbitration provision in this case, factual distinctions between those cases and the instant case contradict that position.

The first distinction is that in *Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens*, the resident was found to have the capacity to execute, and to have executed, the admission agreement on his own behalf. *Stephens*, 911 So. 2d at 510-511. Accordingly, the question of Angela Stephens' power to execute the agreement as his health-care surrogate was not actually before the Court, since her father's capacity to make his own decision caused a failure of a threshold test required before her action could be binding. Although the Court failed to address this specific threshold question in *Stephens*, an appeal where only the Defendants were represented by counsel and filed a brief, the Court has recently addressed this issue squarely – and consistently with the Plaintiff's argument here – in the case of *Grenada Living Center, LLC, v. Coleman*, No. 2006-CA-00169-SCT (Miss. 2007). In *Coleman*, the parties stipulated that Mr. Coleman was competent and that no physician had declared him incompetent. *Id.* at ¶ 13. Accordingly, the first threshold test of Miss Code Ann. 41-41-211(1) was not satisfied and his daughter's signature on an Admission Agreement

containing an arbitration provision was not effective as to the resident or anyone claiming through him. *Id.* at ¶ 17. While *Coleman* dealt only with actions of a health-care surrogate under Miss Code Ann. 41-41-211, the issue of the patient or resident's capacity is an equally important threshold test under the health care power of attorney provision, Miss Code Ann. 41-41-205, and the specific language of Mr. Wyse's power of attorney to Nancy Hinyub, which was effective only "if I [Don Wyse] become unable to make my own health care decisions."

The second distinction is that in *Covenant Health and Rehab, L.P. v. Brown*, the plaintiffs admitted that Mrs. Brown, the nursing home resident, was *incapacitated* at the time of her admission to the defendants' nursing home. Accordingly, the first threshold test of Miss Code Ann. 41-41-211(1) was satisfied.*

In the present case, there was no evidence presented by the Defendants to address the issue of Don Wyse's capacity to decide for himself. In Mississippi, the burden is on the one relying on an agent's authority to prove the authority of that alleged agent. See Ciba-Geigy Corp. v. Murphree, 653 So. 2d 857, 872 (Miss. 1995); Woods v. Nichols, 416 So. 2d 659, 664 (Miss. 1982); Highlands Ins. Co. v. McLaughlin, 387 So. 2d 118 (Miss. 1980); and Cue Oil Co. v. Fornea Oil Co., Inc., 45 So. 2d 597 (Miss. 1950). The Defendants failed to offer evidence of the issue critical to Nancy Hinyub's authority – the capacity of Don Wyse – and that failure is fatal to their position.

The third distinction is that, in the present case, the execution of the arbitration provision was *not* a part of the consideration for Don Wyse's admission to the facility or the provision of health care while a resident. The Admission Agreement itself states:

The Resident and/or Responsible Party understand that ... (2) the execution of this Arbitration [sic.] is not a precondition to the furnishing of services to the Resident by the Facility (R.137)(emphasis added)

^{*} The second threshold test of Miss Code Ann. 41-41-211(1), whether an agent had been appointed and was reasonably available, was not addressed by the Court in *Brown*.

According to the Uniform Health-Care Decisions Act:

"Health care" means any care, treatment, service, or procedure to maintain, diagnose, or otherwise affect an individual's physical or mental condition.

"Health-care decision" means a decision made by an individual or the individual's agent, guardian, or surrogate, regarding the individual's health care, including:

- (i) Selection and discharge of health-care providers and institutions;
- (ii) Approval or disapproval of diagnostic tests, surgical procedures, programs of medication, and orders not to resuscitate; and
- (iii) Directions to provide, withhold or withdraw artificial nutrition and hydration and all other forms of health care

Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-203(g)-(h) (emphasis added). Under the Act, the authority of a health-care agent or surrogate is limited to making only "health-care decisions." In both *Stephens* and *Brown*, the Court apparently found that the execution of the arbitration provision as a part of the admission agreement was part of the "health-care decision," even though arbitration of a personal injury claim has nothing whatever to do with "any care, treatment, service, or procedure to maintain, diagnose, or otherwise affect an individual's physical or mental condition." Including execution of an arbitration provision within the term "health-care decision" in those decisions can only rest on the arbitration provisions' being an essential part of the consideration for receipt of "health care" in those cases. However, in the instant case, the Defendant themselves have established that the execution of the arbitration provision was *not* a part of the health-care decision, since it was not a part of the consideration necessary for Mr. Wyse's admission to the facility or the provision of health care to her.

The Uniform Health-Care Decisions Act cannot be extended beyond its express terms to imply a general grant of authority for a health-care surrogate to conduct business affairs of the patient unrelated to "health-care decisions," and certainly cannot be stretched to include authority to waive a patient's legal or constitutional rights, such as the right to a jury trial or the right to collect full legal redress for damages. Such an interpretation would allow an

unsupervised surrogate to do that which a duly appointed guardian or conservator could not do, and to do so without court authority or accountability. *Compare*, e.g., Miss. Code Ann. §93-13-38 and §93-13-59 with Miss. Code Ann. §41-41-205 and §41-41-211; see, also, Fort v. Battle, 21 Miss. 133 (1849). Such an interpretation of the Uniform Health-Care Decisions Act would be patently absurd.

III. THE ADMISSION AGREEMENT IS SUBSTANTIVELY UNCONSCIONABLE

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